

Philter Brewing Pty Ltd ACN 616 427 340 (Company)

A proprietary company limited by shares.



### **MELBOURNE**

Level 21, 114 William St Melbourne, VIC 3000 Telephone (03) 9008 5954 melbourne@lawsquared.com

# SYDNEY

Level 13, 50 Carrington St Sydney, NSW 2000 Telephone (02) 8315 3236 sydney@lawsquared.com

### BRISBANE

Level 8, 100 Creek St Brisbane, QLD 4000 Telephone (07) 3123 6040 brisbane@lawsquared.com

### LONDON

7 Pancras Sq, King's Cross London, N1C 4AG Telephone +44 20 4579 0889 london@lawsquared.com



LawSquared.com ACN 605 466 617

# **Table of Contents**

Con	stitutio	on a second control of the second control of	1	
1.	Inter	rpretation	1	
	1.1	Definitions	1	
	1.2	Interpretation	5	
	1.3	Application of the Corporations Act	6	
	1.4	Replaceable rules do not apply	6	
	1.5	Exercise of powers	6	
2.	Share capital and variation of rights		7	
	2.1	Directors to issue shares	7	
	2.2	Preference shares	7	
	2.3	Alteration of share capital	7	
	2.4	Variation of class rights	7	
	2.5	No variation	7	
	2.6	Non-recognition of interests	8	
	2.7	Joint holders	8	
	2.8	Register (CSF Offers)	8	
3.	Lien	Lien		
	3.1	Lien on shares	9	
	3.2	Lien on distributions	9	
	3.3	Sale under lien	9	
	3.4	Extinguishment	9	
	3.5	Company's right to recover payments	9	
	3.6	Exemption	9	
	3.7	Irregularity or invalidity	9	
	3.8	Proceeds of sale	10	
4.	Calls on shares		10	
	4.1	Power to make calls	10	
	4.2	Time of call	10	
	4.3	Notice of call	10	
	4.4	Payment	10	
	4.5	Non-receipt of notice	10	
	4.6	Fixed instalment	10	
	4.7	Failure to pay	10	
	4.8	Prepayment of calls and interest	10	
	4.9	Differentiation between Members	11	

<b>5</b> .	Forfeiture of shares		
	5.1	Forfeiture procedure	11
	5.2	Notice of forfeiture	11
	5.3	Effect of forfeiture	11
	5.4	Surrender	12
	5.5	Evidence of forfeiture	12
	5.6	Irregularity or invalidity	12
6.	Issue	e of New Securities	12
	6.1	New Issue Notice	12
	6.2	Issue price	13
	6.3	Acceptance	13
	6.4	Allocation of Unaccepted New Securities	13
	6.5	Notice of allocated New Securities	13
	6.6	Issue of remaining Unaccepted New Securities	13
	6.7	Excluded issues	13
7.	Pre-emptive right		
	7.1	General restriction	14
	7.2	Permitted Disposal below the Disposal Threshold	14
	7.3	Permitted Disposal to a Related Party	14
	7.4	Disposal Notice	14
	7.5	Entitlement of Participating Members to the Sale Shares	15
	7.6	Acceptance	15
	7.7	Allocation of Unaccepted Sale Shares	15
	7.8	Notice of allocated Sale Shares	15
	7.9	Sale to Accepting Members	15
	7.10	Disposal to a third party	15
	7.11	Compliance with law	15
8.	Tag along10		
	8.1	Tag Along Notice	16
	8.2	Effect of Tag Along Notice	16
	8.3	Declining Member Obligations	16
9.	Drag along		
	9.1	Drag Along Notice	16
	9.2	Counter Notice	16
	9.3	Transfer of shares	16
	9.4	No pre-emptive rights	17
10	Trans	sfor of shares	17

	10.1	Transfer of shares	17	
	10.2	Instrument of transfer	17	
	10.3	Transfer	17	
	10.4	Effect of registration	17	
	10.5	Directors' power to refuse to register	17	
11.	Trans	mission of shares	- 17	
	11.1	Transmission of shares on death	17	
	11.2	Register new holder	18	
	11.3	Other transmission events	18	
	11.4	Other rules	18	
12.	Defau	lt	- 19	
	12.1	Event of Default	19	
	12.2	Consequences of an Event of Default	19	
	12.3	Sale of Unaccepted Sale Shares	19	
	12.4	Suspension of rights	20	
13.	Fair M	Fair Market Value		
	13.1	Determination by Directors	20	
	13.2	Appointment of valuer	20	
	13.3	Process for valuation	20	
	13.4	Provision of information and assistance	20	
	13.5	Valuation binding		
14.	Gene	ral meetings	- 21	
	14.1	Convening a general meeting	21	
	14.2	Technology	21	
	14.3	Notice	21	
	14.4	Postponing or cancelling a meeting	21	
	14.5	Business at postponed meeting	21	
	14.6	Proxy, attorney or Representative	21	
	14.7	Non-receipt of notice	22	
	14.8	Appointment of proxy, attorney or Representative	22	
	14.9	Class meetings	22	
	14.10	Written resolutions	22	
15.	Proce	edings at general meeting	- 22	
	15.1	Quorum	22	
	15.2	Requirement for a quorum	23	
	15.3	If quorum not present	23	
	15.4	Adjourned meeting	23	

	15.5	Chair	23
	15.6	Conduct of general meetings	23
	15.7	Adjournment of general meeting	24
	15.8	Notice of adjourned meeting	24
	15.9	Majority	24
	15.10	No casting vote	24
	15.11	Voting on show of hands	24
	15.12	Poll	25
	15.13	Entitlement to vote	25
	15.14	Effect of unpaid call	25
	15.15	Validity of vote in certain circumstances	25
	15.16	Objection to voting qualification	25
16.	Direct	tors	26
	16.1	Number of Directors	26
	16.2	Nominee Directors	26
	16.3	Appointment and removal of nominee Directors	26
	16.4	Appointment and removal by the Directors	26
	16.5	Remuneration	26
	16.6	Additional duties	26
	16.7	Expenses	26
	16.8	Director's interests	27
	16.9	Vacation of office	27
17.	Power	rs and duties of Directors	28
	17.1	General powers	28
	17.2	Nominee Directors	28
	17.3	Specific powers of Directors	28
	17.4	Powers of appointment	28
	17.5	Committees	28
	17.6	Delegation	28
	17.7	Business plan & budget	28
18.	Proceedings of Directors		29
	18.1	Meetings	29
	18.2	Convening meetings	29
	18.3	Notice of meetings	29
	18.4	Technology	29
	18.5	Majority	29
	18 6	Alternate Director or proxy and voting	30

	18.7	Chair	30
	18.8	Casting vote	30
	18.9	Director attending and voting by proxy	30
	18.10	Quorum	30
	18.11	If quorum not present	30
	18.12	Validity of acts	30
	18.13	Written resolutions	31
19.	Alternate Directors		
	19.1	Appointment of Alternate Director	31
	19.2	Alternate Director responsible for own acts	31
	19.3	Termination of appointment of Alternate Director	31
20.	Execu	utive officers	31
	20.1	Managing Directors and executive officers	31
	20.2	Secretary	32
	20.3	Provisions applicable to all executive officers	32
21.	Related party transactions		32
	21.1	Related party transactions	32
	21.2	Where all Directors are disqualified from voting	33
22.	Seals		
	22.1	Safe custody of common seal	33
	22.2	Use of common seal	33
23.	Inspection of records		
	23.1	Inspection by Members	33
	23.2	Right of a Member to inspect	33
	23.3	Audits	33
24.	Dividends		
	24.1	Payment of dividend	34
	24.2	Reserves and profits carried forward	34
	24.3	Apportionment of dividends	34
	24.4	Deductions from dividends	34
	24.5	Distribution of specific assets	34
	24.6	Source of dividends	35
	24.7	Method of payment	35
	24.8	Unclaimed dividends	35
	24.9	Reinvestment	35
25.	Capita	alisation of profits	35
	25.1	Canitalisation of reserves and profits	35

	25.2	Applying a sum for the benefit of Members	36
	25.3	Implementing the resolution	36
26.	Intelle	ectual Property	36
<b>27</b> .	Restr	aint	36
28.	Servi	ce of documents	37
	28.1	Document includes notice	37
	28.2	Methods of service	37
	28.3	Post	37
	28.4	Electronic address	37
	28.5	Electronic means	37
	28.6	Evidence of service	37
	28.7	Joint holders	38
	28.8	Persons entitled to shares	38
29.	Winding up3		
	29.1	Distribution of assets	38
	29.2	Powers of liquidator to vest property	38
	29.3	Shares issued on special terms	38
30.	Inden	nnity and insurance	38
	30.1	Indemnity	38
	30.2	Insurance	39
	30.3	Contract	39
31.	Intere	est and costs payable	39
32.	Attor	ney and Exit	39
	32.1	Appointment of attorney	39
	32.2	Compliance with law	40
	32.3	Assistance for an Exit	40
Schedule 1		Restricted Decisions	41

Philter Brewing Pty Ltd ACN 616 427 340

# 1. Interpretation

### 1.1 Definitions

In this Constitution, the following definitions apply unless the contrary intention appears:

Acceptance Period has the meaning given in article 6.1.

**Accepting Member** has the meaning given in article 6.3 or 7.6 (as the context requires).

**Allocation Notice** means a notice given in article 6.5 or 7.8 (as the context requires).

**Alternate Director** means a person appointed as an alternate Director under article 19.1.

**Appointor** has the meaning given in article 32.1.

**Asset Sale** means the sale of all or substantially all of the business and assets of the Company to one or more purchaser(s) as part of a single transaction or a series of related transactions.

**Business Day** means a day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Sydney, New South Wales.

**Change of Control** means, in relation to any Member, an event the occurrence of which has the effect that:

- (a) if a person or entity Controlled the Member prior to the time the event occurred, that person or entity ceased to Control the Member, or another person or entity obtained Control; or
- (b) if no person or entity Controlled the Member prior to the time the event occurred, a person or entity obtained Control of the Member.

**Company** means Philter Brewing Pty Ltd ACN 616 427 340, as that name may be changed from time to time.

**Conflicted Member** has the meaning given in article 21.1.

**Constantoulas** means Constantoulas Investments Pty Ltd ACN 153 447 208 as trustee for the Constantoulas Discretionary Trust.

**Constitution** means this constitution, and a reference to an article is a reference to an article of this constitution.

**Control** has the meaning given to that term in section 50AA of the Corporations Act and, in addition, a person will be taken to **Control** a trust if:

- (a) the person is the sole or joint trustee of the trust;
- (b) the composition of the board of directors of any corporate trustee is or can be determined by the person;
- (c) the board of directors of any corporate trustee is accustomed to act in accordance with the instructions, directions or wishes of the person;

Law Squared 2022 1

- (d) the person holds or owns (either directly or indirectly):
  - (i) the majority of the issued voting shares of any corporate trustee;
  - the majority of the issued voting shares of the ultimate holding company of any corporate trustee; or
  - the majority of the units, securities or other rights granted by the trust entitling holders to distributions from the trust; or
- (e) the person has the power to appoint the trustee(s) or beneficiaries of the trust, and **Controlled** has a corresponding meaning.

**Corporations Act** means the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth).

**CPI** means the weighted average of the All Groups Price Index Numbers for the eight capital cities of the states and territories of Australia published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics or, if that index number is no longer published, its substitute as a cumulative indicator of the inflation rate in Australia.

**CSF** means crowd sourced funding as defined in the Corporations Act.

**Defaulting Member** means a Member in respect of which an Event of Default has occurred.

**Director** means a person holding office as a Director of the Company and, where appropriate, includes an Alternate Director.

**Directors** means all or some of the Directors acting as a board.

**Disposal Notice** means a notice given under article 7.4.

**Disposal Threshold** means \$100,000.00 for the 2024 financial year, which shall increase on each subsequent financial year to an amount calculated by multiplication of the then current amount by a fraction, the denominator of which is the CPI current one year previously and the numerator of which is the then current CPI.

**Dispose** or **Disposal** in relation to any property means to sell, transfer, assign, create an Encumbrance (other than a Permitted Encumbrance) over, declare oneself trustee of, part with the benefit of, decrease any economic interest in, enter into any swap or derivative (or other similar economic arrangement) in relation thereto, or otherwise dispose of that property (or any interest in it or part of it).

**Encumbrance** means any mortgage, pledge, lien, charge, assignment, security interest, title retention, preferential right or trust arrangement and any other security agreement or arrangement securing obligations or liabilities, whether absolute or contingent, and includes a security interest under the *Personal Property Securities Act 2009* (Cth).

Event of Default means an event specified in article 12.1.

Exit means an IPO, a Share Sale or an Asset Sale.

Fair Market Value means an amount determined under article 12.4.

A person is **Insolvent** if:

- (a) an administrator, liquidator, receiver, receiver and manager or other controller (as defined in the Corporations Act) is appointed to, or over, any of the property or undertaking of the person;
- (b) it is subject to any arrangement, assignment, moratorium or composition, protected from creditors under any statute or dissolved (in each case, other

- than to carry out a reconstruction or amalgamation while solvent on terms approved by the other parties to this Agreement);
- (c) an application or order has been made (and, in the case of an application, it is not stayed, withdrawn or dismissed within 30 days), resolution passed, proposal put forward, or any other action taken, in each case in connection with that person and which is preparatory to, or could result in, any of (a) or (b) above:
- (d) the person is or becomes bankrupt;
- (e) the person (or the person's property or undertaking) is or becomes subject to a personal insolvency arrangement or a debt agreement;
- the person is the subject of an event described in section 459C(2) or section 585 of the Corporations Act;
- (g) the person is otherwise unable to pay its debts when they fall due;
- (h) the person ceases to carry on business; or
- (i) any event happens in connection with the person under the laws of any jurisdiction that is similar to any of the events or circumstances described above.

**Intellectual Property Rights** includes all industrial and intellectual property rights, and includes any patents, registered designs, copyright (including future copyright), trade or service marks (whether registered or unregistered), trade secrets, know-how, or other proprietary right, and applications for, and rights to apply for, registration of any of the foregoing.

**IPO** means the initial public offering and admission or ordinary shares in the Company (or an IPO Vehicle) to the official list of a recognised securities exchange.

**IPO Vehicle** means any related body corporate of the Company, or any special purpose vehicle established for the purpose of an initial public offering.

**Member** means a person entered in the Register as a holder of shares in the capital of the Company.

New Issue Notice means a notice given under article 6.1.

**New Securities** has the meaning given in article 6.1.

**Original Member** has the meaning given in article 7.2.

Participating Member has the meaning given in article 6.1.

**Permitted Encumbrance** means any Encumbrance in favour of the Company or created by statute in favour of governmental or semi-governmental authorities or departments securing the payment of taxes, except as created because of any failure to duly pay any taxes.

**Prospector** means Prospector & Co Pty Ltd ACN 656 495 537 as trustee for the Neil Family Trust.

**Register** means the register of Members of the Company under the Corporations Act.

### **Related Party** means:

- (a) in relation to a Member who is an individual, each:
  - (i) relative of the Member; and

- (ii) person who (directly or indirectly) is Controlled by the Member, or by a relative of the Member;
- (b) in relation to a Member that is a body corporate, each person who (directly or indirectly):
  - (i) Controls the Member:
  - (ii) is Controlled by, or is under the common Control with, the Member; or
  - (iii) is a related entity of the Member as that terms is defined in the Corporations Act; and
- (c) in the case of a Member that is a trustee of a trust, includes any replacement trustee.

and (in all cases) includes any fund, partnership or other investment vehicle that is managed or advised by the Member (or by a Related Party of the Member).

**Representative** means a person appointed to represent a corporate Member at a general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act.

### **Respective Proportion** of a Participating Member means:

- when used in relation to all Participating Members, the proportion that their shares bear to the aggregate number of shares held by all Participating Members; and
- (b) when used in relation to less than all Participating Members, the proportion that their shares bear to the aggregate number of shares held by the relevant Participating Members.

### **Restrained Activities** means:

- (a) any activity, whether entered into solely, jointly or in any other capacity which, in the reasonable opinion of the Company, is in competition with or is of a similar nature to, the core business activities of the Company;
- (b) solicit, proposition, encourage or otherwise induce away from the Company, any person, company or organisation that is an existing employee, supplier, contractor or subcontractor, or customer of the Company; and
- (c) counsel, procure, assist or encourage an person to solicit, proposition, encourage or otherwise induce away from the Company, any person, company or organisation that is an existing employee, supplier, contractor or subcontractor, or customer of the Company.

**Restrained Member** means a Member who, or whose Related Party, is employed by the Company or engaged to provide services to the Company (whether as a contractor or otherwise).

### Restraint Area means:

- (a) Australia, or if that is deemed unenforceable;
- (b) New South Wales, or if that is deemed unenforceable;
- (c) the Greater Sydney Region.

**Restraint Period** means the period of time where a Member holds shares in the Company; and

- (a) 12 months, or if that is deemed unenforceable;
- (b) 6 months.

© Law Squared 2023 4

following the date a Member Disposes of all of its shares.

Sale Price means the price of shares offered under article 6 or 12.

**Sale Shares** has the meaning given in article 7.4.

**Secretary** means a person appointed under article 20 as a secretary of the Company and, where appropriate, includes an acting secretary and a person appointed by the Directors to perform all or any of the duties of a secretary of the Company.

**Seller** has the meaning given in article 7.4.

**Share Sale** means a sale of shares or other securities to one or more purchasers as part of a single transaction or a series of related transactions that results in the purchaser(s) obtaining Control of the Company.

**Special Majority Board Resolution** means a resolution which is approved by Directors who together comprise not less than 75% of the votes cast by Directors entitled to vote on the resolution.

**Special Majority Member Resolution** means a resolution which is approved by Members who together comprise not less than 65% of the total number of votes cast by Members entitled to vote on the resolution, unless a higher percentage is required by the Corporations Act (in which case that higher percentage applies).

**Unaccepted New Securities** has the meaning given in article 6.4.

**Unaccepted Sale Shares** has the meaning given in article 7.7.

**Vedast** means Vedast Pty Ltd ACN 633 935 118 as trustee for the Simon Quinn Family Trust.

### 1.2 Interpretation

In this Constitution:

- (a) a reference to a partly paid share is a reference to a share on which there is an unpaid amount, and a reference to an amount unpaid on a share includes a reference to any amount of the issue price which is unpaid:
- (b) a reference to a call or an amount called on a share includes a reference to a sum that, by the terms of issue of a share, becomes payable at one or more fixed times;
- (c) a reference to a Member present at a general meeting is a reference to a Member present in person or by proxy, attorney or Representative, including by participating using technology approved by the Directors for the purposes of the meeting;
- (d) a reference to a person holding or occupying a particular office or position is a reference to any person who occupies or performs the duties of that office or position;
- (e) a chairperson appointed under this Constitution may be referred to as chairperson, chairman, chairwoman or chair (as appropriate);
- (f) a reference to writing includes any representation of words in a physical document or in an electronic communication or form;
- (g) where a document (including a notice or consent) is required to be signed, the requirement may be satisfied in relation to an electronic communication of the document in any manner:
  - (i) permitted by relevant law relating to electronic transmissions (including electronic signature); or

© Law Squared 2023 5

- (ii) approved by the Directors;
- (h) if a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms have a corresponding meaning;
- (i) the singular includes the plural, and vice versa;
- (j) words such as *including* or *for example* do not limit the meaning of the words that follow them;
- (k) a reference to a document or agreement (including a reference to this Constitution) is to that document or agreement as amended, supplemented, varied or replaced;
- (I) a reference to legislation (including subordinate legislation) is to that legislation as amended, re-enacted or replaced, and includes any subordinate legislation issued under it;
- (m) a reference to a person includes an individual, a body corporate, trust, partnership, unincorporated body, government authority or agency, or other entity whether or not it comprises a separate legal entity;
- (n) a reference to a party includes the party's successors and permitted transferees and assigns and, if the party is an individual, includes executors and personal legal representatives;
- (o) an obligation or liability assumed by, or a right conferred on, two or more parties binds or benefits them all jointly and severally;
- (p) while the Company is considered a CSF company for the purposes of the Corporations Act, any provisions of this Constitution which are contrary to or inconsistent with the CSF requirements of the Corporation Act (including Part 6D.3A) don't apply; and
- (q) all monetary amounts are expressed in Australian Dollars (\$AUD).

### 1.3 Application of the Corporations Act

In this Constitution, unless the contrary intention appears:

- (a) a word or expression defined or used in the Corporations Act has the same meaning when used in this Constitution in a similar context; and
- (b) a reference to a section is a reference to a section of the Corporations Act.

# 1.4 Replaceable rules do not apply

The provisions of the Corporations Act that apply as replaceable rules are displaced by this Constitution and do not apply to the Company.

# 1.5 Exercise of powers

- (a) The Company may exercise any power, take any action or engage in any conduct which the Corporations Act permits a Company limited by shares to exercise, take or engage in.
- (b) A power conferred on a person to do a particular act or thing under this Constitution includes, unless the contrary intention appears, a power (exercisable in the same way and subject to the same conditions) to repeal, rescind, revoke, amend or vary that act or thing.
- (c) A power conferred under this Constitution to do a particular act or thing:
  - (i) may be exercised from time to time and subject to conditions; and

(ii) may, where the power concerns particular matters, be exercised for only some of those matters or as to a particular class of those matters, and to make different provision concerning different matters or different classes of matters.

# 2. Share capital and variation of rights

### 2.1 Directors to issue shares

The issue of shares in the Company is under the control of the Directors who may:

- (a) issue and cancel shares in the Company;
- (b) grant options over unissued shares in the Company;
- (c) settle the manner in which fractions of a share, however arising, are to be dealt with: and
- (d) decide:
  - (i) the persons to whom shares are to be issued or options granted;
  - (ii) the price at which the shares are to be issued or options granted;
  - (iii) the terms on which shares are issued or options are granted; and
  - (iv) the rights and restrictions attaching to those shares or options,

in each case subject to the Corporations Act, this Constitution and any special rights conferred on the holders of any shares or class of shares.

### 2.2 Preference shares

The Company may issue preference shares, including preference shares which are, at the option of the Company or the holder, liable to be redeemed or converted into ordinary shares.

### 2.3 Alteration of share capital

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Company may resolve to convert or reclassify shares from one class to another, and the Directors may do anything required to give effect to that resolution. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company may have multiple classes of shares with such rights and restrictions as determined by the Directors.

### 2.4 Variation of class rights

Subject to this Constitution and the terms on which any shares in the Company are issued, the rights attaching to shares in a class of shares may only be varied or cancelled by a special resolution of the Company and:

- (a) by a special resolution passed at a meeting of Members entitled to vote and holding shares in that class; or
- (b) with the written consent of holders entitled to vote in respect of a least 75% of the issued shares of that class.

### 2.5 No variation

The terms of article 2.4 do not apply and consent is not required for a redemption of any shares or variation of rights attaching to any shares in compliance with the terms of issue of those shares.

In addition, the rights attaching to shares in a class of shares will not be taken to be varied by:

© Law Squared 2023 7

- (a) the issue of further shares of that class; or
- (b) the issue of any shares of any other class; or
- (c) the conversion of shares or other securities to new shares or securities,

which rank equally with, or in priority to, the shares in the relevant class of shares, unless expressly provided by their respective terms of issue or the Corporations Act.

# 2.6 Non-recognition of interests

Except as required by law, the Company is not required to recognise:

- (a) a person as holding a share on any trust; or
- (b) any other interest in any share or any other right in respect of a share except an absolute right of ownership in the registered holder,

whether or not it has notice of the trust, interest or right.

### 2.7 Joint holders

Where two or more persons are registered as the holders of a share, they are taken to hold the shares as joint tenants with benefits of survivorship subject to the following provisions:

- (a) the Company is not bound to register more than three persons as the holders of the shares (except in the case of trustees, executors or administrators of a deceased Member);
- (b) the joint holders are jointly and severally liable for all payments which ought to be made in respect of the shares;
- (c) only the person whose name appears first in the register as one of the joint holders of the shares is entitled, if the Company is required by the Corporations Act or this Constitution to issue certificates for shares, to delivery of a certificate for the shares; and
- (d) any one of the joint holders may vote at any meeting of the Company either personally or by duly authorised representative, proxy or attorney, in respect of the shares as if that joint holder was solely entitled to the shares, and if more than one of the joint holders are present at any meeting personally or by duly authorised representative, proxy or attorney, the joint holder who is present whose name appears first in the register for the shares is entitled alone to vote in respect of the shares.

### 2.8 Register (CSF Offers)

While the Company has one or more Members who acquired their shares in connection with a CSF Offer it must, in addition to any other obligations imposed on it under the Corporations Act in respect of the Register, record the following information in its Register:

- (a) the date of every issue of shares under a CSF Offer;
- (b) the number of shares issued under each CSF Offer;
- (c) the shares issued to each Member under a CSF Offer; and
- (d) the date on which each Member ceases to be a CSF Member of the Company for a particular share in the Company.

# 3. Lien

### 3.1 Lien on shares

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has a first and paramount lien on every share for:

- (a) all due and unpaid calls and instalments in respect of that share;
- (b) all money which the Company is required by law to pay, and has paid, in respect of that share:
- (c) reasonable interest on the amount due from the date it becomes due until payment; and
- (d) reasonable expenses of the Company in respect of the default on payment.

### 3.2 Lien on distributions

A lien on a share under article 3.1extends to all distributions in respect of that share, including dividends.

### 3.3 Sale under lien

The Directors may sell a share on which the Company has a lien as they think fit where:

- (a) an amount for which a lien exists under this article is presently payable; and
- (b) the Company has given the registered holder written notice, at least 14 days before the date of the sale, demanding payment of that mount.

The Directors may do anything necessary or desirable to protect any lien, charge or other right to which the Company is entitled under this Constitution or at law.

# 3.4 Extinguishment

The Company's lien on a share is extinguished if a transfer of the share is registered without the Company giving notice of the lien to the transferee.

### 3.5 Company's right to recover payments

If any law of any place imposes on the Company the liability to make a payment for a Member or a share held by that Member, the Member or (if applicable) the Member's personal representative must:

- (a) indemnify the Company against that liability;
- (b) on demand, reimburse the Company for any payment made; and
- (c) pay interest on the unpaid part of the amount(s) payable to the Company under this article, from the date of demand until the date the Company is reimbursed in full for that payment, at a rate calculated under article 31.

### 3.6 Exemption

The Directors may, at any time, exempt a share wholly or partly from the provisions of article 3.1.

# 3.7 Irregularity or invalidity

The title of the purchaser to the share is not affected by any irregularity or invalidity in connection with the sale of the share under article 3.3.

### 3.8 Proceeds of sale

The proceeds of a sale under article 3.3must be applied by the Company in payment of the amount in respect of which the lien exists as is presently payable, and the residue, if any, must be paid to the person entitled to the share immediately before the sale.

# 4. Calls on shares

# 4.1 Power to make calls

The Directors may:

- (a) make calls on a Member in respect of any money unpaid on the shares of that Member, if the money is not by the terms of issue of those shares made payable at fixed times;
- (b) make a call payable by instalments; and
- (c) revoke or postpone a call.

# 4.2 Time of call

A call is taken to be made at the time when the resolution of the Directors authorising the call is passed.

### 4.3 Notice of call

If the time for a call is not specified in the terms of issue, the Company must give notice of a call at least 20 Business Days before the amount called is due, specifying the method of payment.

# 4.4 Payment

Each Member must pay to the Company, by the time and in the manner specified, the amount called on the Member's shares.

### 4.5 Non-receipt of notice

The non-receipt of a notice of any call by, or the accidental omission to give notice of a call to, a Member does not invalidate the call.

### 4.6 Fixed instalment

Any amount unpaid on a share that, by the terms of issue of the share, becomes payable on issue or at a fixed date is taken to be a call duly made and is payable under the terms of issue of the share.

# 4.7 Failure to pay

If a Member does not pay the amount due under a call by the time specified, the Member must pay:

- interest on the amount unpaid from the date payment is due to the date payment is made, at a rate calculated under article 31; and
- (b) any costs, expenses or damages the Company incurs due to the failure to pay.

The Directors may waive payment under this article wholly or in part.

# 4.8 Prepayment of calls and interest

The Directors may:

- (a) accept from a Member the whole or part of the amount unpaid on a share even if no part of that amount has been called; and
- (b) authorise payment by the Company of interest on the whole or any part of an amount so accepted, until the amount becomes payable, at a rate fixed by the Directors; and
- (c) repay to a Member any amount accepted under this article 4.8.

### 4.9 Differentiation between Members

The Directors may, on the issue of shares, differentiate between the holders of the shares as to the amount of calls to be paid and the times of payment.

# 5. Forfeiture of shares

# 5.1 Forfeiture procedure

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Company may (by Directors' resolution) forfeit a Member's share if:

- (a) the Member does not pay a call or other amount payable for that share on or before the date for its payment;
- (b) the Company gives the Member written notice:
  - (i) requiring the Member to pay that call or other amount (together with any interest that has accrued and all costs and expenses that may have been incurred by the Company by reason of that non-payment); and
  - (ii) stating that the share is liable to be forfeited if the Member does not pay to the Company the amount specified in the notice within 14 days (or any longer period specified) after the date of the notice; and
- (c) the Member does not pay that amount under that notice.

### 5.2 Notice of forfeiture

If any shares are forfeited under this article 5, notice of the forfeiture must be given to the Member holding the share immediately before the forfeiture and an entry of the forfeiture and its date must be made in the Register. Any failure to give notice or enter the forfeiture in the Register does not invalidate the forfeiture.

### 5.3 Effect of forfeiture

- (a) A forfeiture under this article 5 includes all dividends, interest and other amounts payable by the Company on the forfeited share and not actually paid before the forfeiture.
- (b) A forfeited share becomes the property of the Company and the Directors may:
  - (i) sell, reissue or otherwise dispose of the share as they think fit; and
  - (ii) in the case of reissue, or other disposal, with or without creating as paid up any amount paid on the share by any former holder.
- (c) A person whose shares have been forfeited ceases to be a Member as to the forfeited share but must, if the Directors decide, pay to the Company:
  - (i) all calls and other amounts owing on the shares at the time of the forfeiture; and

- (ii) interest on the unpaid part of the amount payable under article 5.3(c)(i), from the date of the forfeiture to the date of payment, at a rate calculated under article 31.
- (d) A forfeiture under this article 5 extinguishes all interest in, and all claims against the Company relating to, the forfeited share and all other rights attached to the share.
- (e) The Directors may:
  - (i) exempt a share from all or part of this article;
  - (ii) waive all or part of any payment due to the Company under this article; and
  - (iii) before a forfeited share has been sold, reissued or otherwise disposed of, cancel the forfeiture on the conditions they decide.

to give notice or enter the forfeiture in the Register does not invalidate the forfeiture.

### 5.4 Surrender

The Directors may accept the surrender of any share which they are entitled to forfeit on any terms they think fit and any share so surrendered is taken to be a forfeited share.

### 5.5 Evidence of forfeiture

A statement in writing declaring that the person making the statement is a Director or a Secretary, and that a share in the Company has been forfeited in accordance with this Constitution on the date declared in the statement, is prima facie evidence of the facts in the statement as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share.

# 5.6 Irregularity or invalidity

The title of the transferee to the share is not affected by any irregularity or invalidity in connection with the forfeiture, sale, re-issue or disposal of the share.

# 6. Issue of New Securities

### 6.1 New Issue Notice

Subject to article 6.7, if the Company proposes to issue any new shares or other securities (**New Securities**), it must give a written notice to Vedast, Constantoulas and Prospector (**Participating Member**) specifying (a **New Issue Notice**):

- the terms of the proposes issue of New Securities, including the issue price per New Security (or the means by which the price will be calculated);
- (b) the total number of New Securities to be issued;
- (c) the number of New Securities for which the Participating Member is entitled to subscribe, being its Respective Proportion of the total number of New Securities to be issued; and
- the date by which the offer for New Securities must be accepted (which must be no less than 10 Business Days after the date of the New Issue Notice) (Acceptance Period).

# 6.2 Issue price

The issue price of any New Securities must be a price per New Security agreed and approved by resolution of the Directors.

### 6.3 Acceptance

A Participating Member who wants to take up all or part of its entitlement to the New Securities (**Accepting Member**) must give a notice of acceptance to the Company within the Acceptance Period specifying:

- (a) the number of New Securities that the Accepting Member wants to take up; and
- (b) the number or value (if any) of New Securities in excess of the Accepting Member's entitlement, for which the Accepting Member would be prepared to subscribe.

If a Participating Member fails to give a notice of acceptance within the Acceptance Period, it is taken to have waived its right to participate in that issue of New Securities.

### 6.4 Allocation of Unaccepted New Securities

If a Participating Member does not take up all of its entitlement to New Securities offered under a New Issue Notice, then those New Securities (**Unaccepted New Securities**) must be allocated to those Accepting Members who have offered to subscribe for New Securities additional to their entitlement in their Respective Proportions.

This process is to be repeated in respect of any remaining Unaccepted New Securities until all of the Unaccepted New Securities are taken up, or until all offers under article 6.3(b)have been satisfied in full.

### 6.5 Notice of allocated New Securities

The Company must, as soon as reasonably practicable after completing the allocation process set out in article 6.4 and, in any event, by no later than 2 Business Days after the end of the Acceptance Period, notify each Participating Member:

- (a) of the number of New Securities allocated to each Accepting Member; and / or
- (b) whether there remain any Unaccepted New Securities,

(in each case, an Allocation Notice).

### 6.6 Issue of remaining Unaccepted New Securities

If the Accepting Members do not take up all of the Unaccepted New Securities, the Company may, during the period of 30 Business Days following completion of the offers of Unaccepted New Securities under article 6.4, issue the remaining Unaccepted New Securities to any third parties the Directors determine, on terms no less favourable to the Company than were offered to the Participating Members under the New Issue Notice.

### 6.7 Excluded issues

The right of first refusal under this article 6 does not apply to any of the following:

(a) (incentive scheme) New Securities issued to employees, Directors or consultants of the Company or a subsidiary (or their Related Parties) under an incentive scheme equal to a maximum of 10% of the total issued share capital of the Company from time-to-time;

- (b) **(capital structure)** New Securities issued in connection with any split, dividend or recapitalisation by the Company, or on conversion of any convertible securities;
- (c) (acquisitions) New Securities issued as payment for an acquisition by the Company (or a subsidiary);
- (d) (Exit) New Securities issued as part of an Exit; or
- (e) **(approval)** an issue of New Securities that has been approved by Special Majority Member Resolution.

# 7. Pre-emptive right

### 7.1 General restriction

A Member must not Dispose of any of their shares, except:

- (a) in accordance with this article 7 (or otherwise as required by this Constitution);
- (b) as part of an Exit;
- (c) to a Related Party in accordance with article 7.2; or
- (d) with the prior approval of a Special Majority Board Resolution.

### 7.2 Permitted Disposal below the Disposal Threshold

A Member may, subject to the other terms of this clause 7, at any time (but not more than once in any 12 month period), Dispose of any or all of its shares to an unrelated third party, provided that the total transfer price in connection with such Disposal does not exceed the Disposal Threshold.

### 7.3 Permitted Disposal to a Related Party

A Member (the **Original Member**) may, at any time, Dispose of any of its shares to a Related Party. However, unless otherwise approved by the Directors, if a Member who has acquired shares as a result of a Disposal under this article ceases to be a Related Party of the Original Member:

- that Member must immediately transfer all relevant shares back to the Original Member (or to another Related Party of the Original Member); and
- (b) all rights attaching to the shares held by that Member will be suspended until the transfer back to the Original Member (or to another Related Party of the Original Member) is completed.

# 7.4 Disposal Notice

If a Member (**Seller**) proposes to Dispose of any of its shares (**Sale Shares**), it must first give a written notice (**Disposal Notice**) to the Company specifying:

- the terms of the proposed Disposal, including the sale price for each Sale Share (which must be a fixed cash price per share) (**Sale Price**);
- (b) the total number of Sale Shares; and
- (c) the identity of the proposed purchaser of the Sale Shares (if known).

The Company must give a copy of the Disposal Notice to each Participating Member as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt.

A Disposal Notice (once given) is irrevocable.

# 7.5 Entitlement of Participating Members to the Sale Shares

A Disposal Notice constitutes an offer by the Seller to sell the Sale Shares to each Participating Member, in their Respective Proportions, on the terms set out in the Disposal Notice (and otherwise in accordance with this article 7).

# 7.6 Acceptance

A Participating Member that wants to take up all or part of its entitlement to the Sale Shares (**Accepting Member**) must give a notice of acceptance to the Company within 10 Business Days of the date of the Disposal Notice specifying:

- (a) the number of Sale Shares that the Accepting Member wants to take up; and
- (b) the number of Sale Shares in excess of the Accepting Member's entitlement (if any), for which the Accepting Member would be prepared to take up.

If an Accepting Member fails to give a notice of acceptance within the specified period, that Accepting Member is taken to have waived its right to take up any Sale Shares.

# 7.7 Allocation of Unaccepted Sale Shares

If an Accepting Member does not take up all of its entitlement to Sale Shares offered under a Disposal Notice (**Declining Member**), then those Sale Shares (**Unaccepted Sale Shares**) must be allocated to those Accepting Members who have offered to take up Sale Shares additional to their entitlement in their Respective Proportions.

This process is to be repeated in respect of any remaining Unaccepted Sale Shares until all of the Unaccepted Sale Shares are taken up, or until all offers under article 7.6(b) have been satisfied in full.

### 7.8 Notice of allocated Sale Shares

The Company must, as soon as reasonably practicable after completing the allocation process set out in article 7.7 and, in any event, by no later than 2 Business Days after the end of the period referred to in article 7.6, notify the Seller and each Participating Member:

- (a) of the number of Sale Shares allocated to each Accepting Member; and / or
- (b) whether there remain any Unaccepted Sale Shares,

(in each case, an Allocation Notice).

# 7.9 Sale to Accepting Members

If article 7.8(a) applies, the Seller must sell, and each Accepting Member must buy, the number of Sale Shares allocated to it:

- (a) within 2 Business Days of the date of the Allocation Notice; and
- (b) at the Sale Price.

### 7.10 Disposal to a third party

If article 7.8(b) applies, the Seller may, by no later than 30 Business Days after the date of the Disposal Notice, Dispose of the Unaccepted Sale Shares to a third party (**Third Party Purchaser**) on terms no more favourable to the third party than those offered to the Participating Members in the Disposal Notice.

# 7.11 Compliance with law

This article 7 applies if, and only for so long as, item 19A of section 611 of the Corporations Act applies in respect of the Company.

# 8. Tag along

# 8.1 Tag Along Notice

If a Declining Member receives a Disposal Notice from a Seller who, alone or in aggregate, holds more than 75% of the total shares in the Company's capital and the Declining Member does not exercise its right to purchase any Sale Shares or exercises that option but that option does not become unconditional, then the Declining Member may, within 30 Business Days after receipt of the Disposal Notice, advise the Seller that it requires the Seller to procure the sale of the same percentage of the Declining Member's shares as the percentage that the Sale Shares represent of the Seller's total shareholding to the Third Party Purchaser at no less than the Sale Price and upon the same terms as the Disposal Notice.

### 8.2 Effect of Tag Along Notice

If the Seller receives a notice from the Declining Member under article 8.1 then the Seller may only sell the Sale Shares to the Third Party Purchaser if at the time of the Third Party Purchaser's acquisition of the Sale Shares, it also acquires the Declining Member's shares:

- (a) for a price per share being the greater of the Sale Price and the price paid by the Third Party Purchaser to the Seller; and
- (b) on terms no less favourable to the Declining Member than those contained in the Disposal Notice and no less beneficial to the Declining Member than the terms and conditions upon which the Seller is acquiring the Sale Shares.

# 8.3 Declining Member Obligations

If a Declining Member gives a notice under article 8.1 then the Declining Member must take all steps reasonably necessary to sell its shares to the Third Party Purchaser, provided the terms of the sale comply with this article.

# 9. Drag along

# 9.1 Drag Along Notice

If Vedast (but not any other Member) finds a bona fide purchaser who has offered to purchase all of the shares issued by the Company, Vedast may serve a notice (**the Drag Along Notice**) on the other Members (**Dragged Members**) specifying:

- (a) the name of the person who wished to purchase all of the shares;
- (b) all of the material terms of the proposed purchase; and
- (c) attaching a copy of the offer made by that person.

# 9.2 Counter Notice

The Dragged Members may, within 28 days of the date of service of the Drag Along Notice, serve one or more counter notices (**Counter Notice**) on Vedast offering to purchase all of the shares issued by the Company on terms no less favourable than those in the Drag Along Notice.

### 9.3 Transfer of shares

29 days after the date that the Drag Along Notice is served, the Members will be bound to transfer all of their shares on the terms specified in the most favourable of the:

(a) the Drag Along Notice; and

(b) the Counter Notices, if any,

provided that Vedast also transfers its shares, upon payment in full of the consideration payable for all shares held by the Members transferring their shares. If there is any dispute as to the most favourable offer, it will be determined by the Directors by way of Special Majority Board Resolution.

# 9.4 No pre-emptive rights

The provisions of article 7 do not apply to a proposed sale under this article 9. A copy of any notice issued under this article 9 must be provided to the Company at the time it is issued.

# 10. Transfer of shares

### 10.1 Transfer of shares

Subject to this Constitution and the terms on which any shares in the Company are issued, a Member may transfer shares in the Company.

### 10.2 Instrument of transfer

Subject to this Constitution, a share in the Company is transferable by any method of transfer required or permitted by the Corporations Act.

### 10.3 Transfer

If a duly completed instrument of transfer:

- (a) is used to transfer a share in accordance with article 10.2; and
- (b) is left for registration at the share registry of the Company, accompanied by any information that the Directors properly require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer,

the Company must, subject to the powers vested in the Directors by this Constitution, register the transferee as the holder of the share.

# 10.4 Effect of registration

A transferor of a share remains the holder of the share transferred until the transfer is registered and the name of the transferee is entered in the Register in respect of the share.

### 10.5 Directors' power to refuse to register

The Directors:

- (a) must refuse to register a transfer of shares in the Company which does not comply with this Constitution; and
- (b) must register a transfer of shares in the Company which complies with this Constitution.

# 11. Transmission of shares

### 11.1 Transmission of shares on death

If a Member, who holds shares jointly, dies, the Company will recognise only the survivor as being entitled to the Member's interest in the shares. The estate of the Member is not released from any liability in respect of the shares.

If a Member, who does not hold shares jointly, dies, the Company will recognise only the personal representative of the Member as being entitled to the Member's interest in the shares.

# 11.2 Register new holder

If the surviving joint holder or personal representative gives the Directors the information they reasonably require to establish the surviving joint holder's or representative's entitlement to be registered as a holder of the shares:

- (a) the surviving joint holder or personal representative may:
  - (i) by giving a written and signed notice to the Company, elect to be registered as the holder of the shares; or
  - (ii) by giving a completed transfer form to the Company, transfer the shares to another person; and
- (b) the surviving joint holder or personal representative is entitled, whether or not registered as the holder of the shares, to the same rights as the Member.

On receiving an election under paragraph (a)(i), the Company must register the surviving joint holder or personal representative as the holder of the shares. A transfer under paragraph (a)(ii) is subject to the articles that apply to transfers generally.

### 11.3 Other transmission events

If a person entitled to shares because of:

- (a) the bankruptcy of a Member;
- (b) the mental incapacity of a Member; or
- (c) the insolvency of a Member,

gives the Directors the information they reasonably require to establish the person's entitlement to be registered as a holder of the shares, the person may:

- (d) by giving a written and signed notice to the Company, elect to be registered as the holder of the shares; or
- (e) by giving a completed transfer form to the Company, transfer the shares to another person,

subject to any law which regulates the relevant event.

On receiving an election under paragraph (a), the Company must register the personal representative as the holder of the shares. A transfer under paragraph (b) is subject to the articles that apply to transfers generally.

### 11.4 Other rules

- (a) The Directors may register a transfer of shares signed by a Member before an event set out in this article occurs even though the Company has notice of the relevant event.
- (b) The provisions of this Constitution about the right to transfer shares and the registration of share transfers apply, so far as they can and with any necessary changes, to a notice or transfer under this article as if the relevant event had not occurred and the notice or transfer were signed or effected by the registered holder of the share.

# 12. Default

### 12.1 Event of Default

An Event of Default occurs in relation to a Member if:

- (a) the Member breaches a material term of this Constitution and that breach is either incapable of remedy or, if capable of remedy, is not remedied within 10 Business Days of being notified in writing by the Company;
- (b) the Member is persistently and materially in breach of the terms of this Constitution;
- (c) the Member becomes Insolvent;
- (d) the Member Disposes (or purports to Dispose) of any shares in breach of this Constitution;
- (e) a Change of Control occurs in respect of the Member without the prior written consent of the Directors; or
- (f) the Member is convicted of a criminal offence or is reasonably considered to have committed or engaged in fraudulent activity.

### 12.2 Consequences of an Event of Default

A Defaulting Member is taken to have given a Disposal Notice on the date it becomes a Defaulting Member on the following terms:

- (a) the offerees are each Participating Member (who itself is not a Defaulting Member);
- (b) the number of Sale Shares is all of the shares held by the Defaulting Member;
- the Sale Price is the priced agreed between the Defaulting Member and the Participating Members or, failing agreement within 5 Business Days, the Fair Market Value of the Sale Securities (less the costs of the valuer, which shall be borne by the Defaulting Member); and
- (d) the acceptance period is 10 Business Days from the date on which the Disposal Notice is taken to have been given or, if the Fair Market Value is required to be determined, 10 Business Days after the Fair Market Value is determined.

If not all of the Sale Shares are sold under this process, then articles 7.7 and 7.8 shall apply with necessary changes. Where this article 12 applies, articles 7.9 and 7.10 shall not apply.

### 12.3 Sale of Unaccepted Sale Shares

If, after the process set out in articles 7.7 and 7.8 have been completed, there remain any Unaccepted Sale Shares, then:

- (a) any Sale Shares which have been taken up by (or allocated to) the Accepting Members shall be acquired by those Accepting Members:
  - (i) within 2 Business Days of the date of the Allocation Notice; and
  - (ii) at the Sale Price; and
- (b) the Defaulting Member must, if requested to do so within 45 Business Days thereafter, Dispose of any remaining Sale Shares to:

- (i) a purchaser nominated by the Company and otherwise on the terms set out (or taken to be set out) in the Disposal Notice; or
- (ii) the Company under a buy-back or capital reduction for the Sale Price, and the Defaulting Member must take all reasonable steps to facilitate the Disposal, buy-back or capital reduction.

# 12.4 Suspension of rights

Immediately on the occurrence of an Event of Default:

- (a) all rights attaching to the shares held by the Defaulting Member are suspended; and
- (b) any Director(s) appointed to represent the interests of the Defaulting Member are taken to have been removed by the Defaulting Member, and any Director appointment rights are suspended (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the quorum and Board voting arrangements shall, if required, be modified accordingly).

Each of the suspensions referred to above continues until such time as all of the shares of the Defaulting Member are acquired, or the lapse of the period referred to in article 12.3(b) (whichever occurs first).

# 13. Fair Market Value

# 13.1 Determination by Directors

If this Constitution requires the fair market value of shares to be determined and the subject matter giving rise to that requirement amounts to less than 1.5% of the issued equity in the Company, the fair market value shall be as determined by the Directors acting reasonably and having made any enquiries they consider appropriate (at their discretion). In such circumstances articles 13.2 to 13.4 shall not apply.

### 13.2 Appointment of valuer

If this Constitution requires the fair market value of shares to be determined and the subject matter giving rise to that requirement amounts to more than 1.5% of the issued equity in the Company, the Company must, within 5 Business Days of the date on which the need for a valuation arises, appoint an appropriately qualified independent third party to act as valuer.

The valuer is to be instructed to determine, as soon as reasonably practicable after their appointment (and, in any event, within 20 Business Days) the Fair Market Value of the relevant shares. The valuer is to be instructed to determine a specific value, rather than a range of values.

The valuer acts as an expert and not as an arbitrator in conducting valuations.

### 13.3 Process for valuation

In determining the Fair Market Value, the valuer is to be instructed to conduct the valuation in accordance with valuation standards, practices and principles generally accepted in Australia, and otherwise on the basis that the valuer deems most appropriate.

### 13.4 Provision of information and assistance

The Company must promptly provide all information and assistance reasonably requested by the valuer, including:

(a) all things reasonably necessary to effect their appointment; and

(b) procuring that the valuer has access to the books and records of the Company as the valuer may reasonably require.

# 13.5 Valuation binding

The valuation conducted by the valuer is conclusive and binding on the Company and the Members, in the absence of manifest error.

# 14. General meetings

# 14.1 Convening a general meeting

The Directors or a Director may convene and arrange to hold a general meeting of the Company whenever they think fit and must do so if required under the Corporations Act.

# 14.2 Technology

The Company may hold a meeting of its Members at two or more venues using any technology that gives the Members as a whole a reasonable opportunity to participate.

### 14.3 Notice

Notice of a general meeting must be given in accordance with article 28 and the Corporations Act.

# 14.4 Postponing or cancelling a meeting

The Directors may:

- (a) postpone a meeting of Members;
- (b) cancel a meeting of Members; or
- (c) change the place for a general meeting,

if they consider that the meeting has become unnecessary, or the venue would be unreasonable or impractical, or a change is necessary in the interests of conducting the meeting efficiently.

A meeting which is called by a single Director or under a Members' requisition under the Corporations Act may not be postponed or cancelled without the prior written consent of the person(s) who called or requisitioned the meeting.

### 14.5 Business at postponed meeting

The only business that may be transacted at a general meeting the holding of which is postponed, is the business specified in the original notice convening the meeting.

### 14.6 Proxy, attorney or Representative

Where by the terms of an instrument appointing a proxy or attorney or an appointment of a Representative:

- (a) the appointed person is authorised to attend and vote at a general meeting or general meeting(s) to be held on or before a specified date; and
- (b) the date for holding the meeting is postponed to a date later than the date specified in the instrument of proxy, power of attorney or appointment of Representative.

then, by force of this article, that later date is substituted for and applies to the exclusion of the date specified in the instrument of proxy, power of attorney or

appointment of Representative unless the Member appointing the proxy, attorney or Representative gives to the Company at its registered office notice in writing to the contrary not less than 48 hours before the time to which the holding of the meeting has been postponed.

### 14.7 Non-receipt of notice

Subject to the Corporations Act, the non-receipt of a notice of any general meeting by, or the accidental omission to give notice to, any person entitled to the notice does not invalidate anything done (including the passing of a resolution) at the meeting.

A person's attendance at a general meeting waives any objection that person may have to:

- (a) a failure to give notice, or the giving of a defective notice, of the meeting unless the person (at the commencement of the meeting) objects to the holding of the meeting; and
- (b) the consideration of a particular matter at the meeting which is not within the business referred to in the notice of the meeting, unless the person objects to considering the matter when it is presented.

# 14.8 Appointment of proxy, attorney or Representative

Subject to the Corporations Act, a Member who is entitled to participate in and vote at a meeting of the Company may appoint a person as the Member's proxy or may appoint a Representative or an attorney, to participate in and vote at the meeting for the Member.

If a Member is entitled to cast two or more votes at the meeting, the Member may appoint two proxies who may each exercise half of the Member's votes at the meeting, unless the instrument appointing the proxies specifies the proportion or number of the Member's votes that each proxy may exercise.

# 14.9 Class meetings

The provisions of this Constitution about general meetings apply, with necessary changes, to separate class meetings as if they were general meetings.

### 14.10 Written resolutions

The Members may pass a resolution without a meeting being held if all of the Members entitled to vote on the relevant resolution sign a document containing a statement that they are in favour of the resolution set out in the document.

A resolution passed in accordance with this article 14.10 will be valid and effective as a resolution duly passed at a meeting of Members.

# 15. Proceedings at general meeting

# 15.1 Quorum

Subject to article 15.4, the quorum for a general meeting is:

- (a) where the Company has only one Member, that Member; and
- (b) otherwise, two or more Members representing more than 50% of the issued share capital of the Company, one of whom must be Vedast, Constantoulas or Prospector.

present in person or by proxy, attorney or Representative. In determining whether a quorum is present, each individual attending as proxy, attorney or Representative is to be counted, except that:

- (c) where a Member has appointed more than one proxy, attorney or Representative, only one is to be counted; and
- (d) where an individual is attending both as a Member and as a proxy, attorney or Representative, that individual is to be counted once for that Member and once for each Member for whom that individual is attending as a proxy, attorney or Representative.

# 15.2 Requirement for a quorum

An item of business may not be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum is present when the meeting proceeds to consider it. If a quorum is present at the time the first item of business is transacted, it is taken to be present when the meeting proceeds to consider each subsequent item of business unless the chair of the meeting (on the chair's own motion or at the request of a Member, proxy, attorney or Representative who is present) declares otherwise.

### 15.3 If quorum not present

If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of a meeting, then the meeting:

- (a) if convened in accordance with the Corporations Act by a single Director, by Members or by the Directors at the request of the Members, is dissolved; and
- (b) in any other case, stands adjourned to the same day in the next week and the same time and place, or to such other day, time and place as the Directors appoint by notice to the Members and others entitled to notice of the meeting.

# 15.4 Adjourned meeting

At a meeting adjourned due to a lack of a quorum, where the Company has only one Member, the quorum is that Member, and otherwise, the quorum is any two Members representing more than 50% of the issued share capital of the Company, present in person or by proxy, attorney or Representative. If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the adjourned meeting, the meeting is dissolved.

### 15.5 Chair

The sole Director or the chair of the board of Directors is entitled to take the chair at every general meeting.

If, at any general meeting:

- (a) there is no chair of the board of Directors;
- (b) the chair is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting; or
- (c) the chair is present but is unwilling to act as chair of the meeting,

then the Directors present may choose another Director as chair of the meeting or, if no Director is present or if each Director present is unwilling to act as chair of the meeting, a Member chosen by a majority of the Members present is entitled to act as chair of the meeting.

### 15.6 Conduct of general meetings

The chair of a general meeting:

- (a) has charge of the general conduct of the meeting and the procedures to be adopted at the meeting;
- (b) may require the adoption of any procedure which is in the chair's opinion necessary or desirable for proper and orderly debate or discussion and the proper and orderly casting or recording of votes at the general meeting; and
- (c) may, having regard where necessary to the Corporations Act, terminate discussion or debate on any matter whenever the chair considers it necessary or desirable for the proper conduct of the meeting,

and a decision by the chair under this article is final.

# 15.7 Adjournment of general meeting

The chair of a general meeting may at any time during the meeting adjourn the meeting or any business, motion, question, resolution, debate or discussion being considered or remaining to be considered by the meeting either to a later time at the same meeting or to an adjourned meeting at any time and place, but:

- (a) in exercising the discretion to do so, the chair may, but need not, seek the approval of the Members present in person or by proxy, attorney or Representative; and
- (b) only unfinished business is to be transacted at a meeting resumed after an adjournment.

Unless required by the chair, a vote may not be taken or demanded by the Members present in person or by proxy, attorney or Representative in respect of any adjournment.

### 15.8 Notice of adjourned meeting

It is not necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at any adjourned meeting unless a meeting is adjourned for one month or more. In that case, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as in the case of an original meeting.

### 15.9 Majority

Subject to the requirements of the Corporations Act, each of the matters listed in Schedule 1 that are noted as requiring approval by way of Special Majority Member Resolution must be determined by a Special Majority Member Resolution.

All other resolutions of the Members must be passed by ordinary resolution.

### 15.10 No casting vote

If there is an equality of votes, either on a show of hands or on a poll, the chair of the general meeting is not entitled to a casting vote in addition to any votes to which the chair is entitled as a Member or proxy or attorney or Representative.

### 15.11 Voting on show of hands

A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is demanded:

- (a) before the show of hands is taken;
- (b) before the result of the show of hands is declared; or
- (c) immediately after the result of the show of hands is declared.

© Law Squared 2023 24

A declaration by the chair that a resolution has on a show of hands been carried or carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, is conclusive evidence of the fact.

### 15.12 Poll

A poll may be demanded in accordance with the Corporations Act. If a poll is effectively demanded:

- (a) it must be taken in the manner and at the date and time directed by the chair and the result of the poll is a resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded;
- (b) on the election of a chair or on a question of adjournment, it must be taken immediately;
- (c) the demand may be withdrawn; and
- (d) the demand does not prevent the continuance of the meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question on which the poll has been demanded.

### 15.13 Entitlement to vote

Subject to this Constitution and any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares:

- on a show of hands, each Member present in person and each other person present as a proxy, attorney or Representative of a Member has one vote; and
- (b) on a poll, each Member present in person has one vote for each fully paid share held by the Member and each person present as proxy, attorney or Representative of a Member has one vote for each fully paid share held by the Member that the person represents.

### 15.14 Effect of unpaid call

A Member is not entitled at a general meeting to cast a vote attached to a share on which a call is due and payable and has not been paid.

# 15.15 Validity of vote in certain circumstances

Unless the Company has received written notice of the matter before the start or resumption of the meeting at which a person votes as a proxy, attorney or Representative, a vote cast by that person is valid even if, before the person votes:

- (a) the appointing Member dies;
- (b) the Member is mentally incapacitated;
- (c) the Member revokes the appointment or authority;
- (d) the Member revokes the authority under which the appointment was made by a third party; or
- (e) the Member transfers the share(s) in respect of which the appointment or authority was given.

### 15.16 Objection to voting qualification

An objection to the right of a person to attend or vote at the meeting or adjourned meeting:

(a) may not be raised except at that meeting or adjourned meeting; and

(b) must be referred to the chair of the meeting, whose decision is final.

A vote is not disallowed under the objection is valid for all purposes.

# 16. Directors

### 16.1 Number of Directors

- (a) The minimum number of Directors at any time is 2 (excluding any Alternate Directors);
- (b) The maximum number of Directors at any time (excluding any Alternate Directors) is 5, or such other number as determined by the Company in general meeting; and
- (c) The Company must at all times comply with any applicable Director residency requirements for a company of its type.

# 16.2 Nominee Directors

Vedast, Constantoulas and Prospector may each appoint and remove one Director for so long as they remain a Member.

# 16.3 Appointment and removal of nominee Directors

In exercising rights under article 16.2, a Member may:

- (a) appoint a Director by written notice to the Company specifying the identity of the person to be appointed as a Director; and
- (b) remove or replace a Director by written notice to the Company specifying the identity of the person to be removed or replaced as a Director and their replacement (if applicable),

and, in each case, the appointment, removal or replacement (as applicable) takes effect immediately on receipt of the notice by the Company together with a signed consent to act (if applicable).

A Member that has appointed a Director under article 16.2 must remove that Director if, at any time, the Member does not meet the requisite requirements for the appointment of the Director.

### 16.4 Appointment and removal by the Directors

Directors (other than a Director appointed under article 16.2) may be appointed and removed by a resolution of the Directors.

### 16.5 Remuneration

The Directors may be remunerated for their services as Directors as determined by a Special Majority Board Resolution. The remuneration is taken to accrue from day to day.

### 16.6 Additional duties

If a Director at the request of the Directors performs additional or special duties for the Company, the Company may remunerate that Director as determined by the Directors and that remuneration may be either in addition to or in substitution for that Director's remuneration under article 16.5.

### 16.7 Expenses

A Director is entitled to be reimbursed out of the funds of the Company such reasonable travelling, accommodation and other expenses as the Director may incur

when travelling to or from meetings of the Directors or a committee or when otherwise engaged on the business of the Company.

### 16.8 Director's interests

Subject to compliance with the Corporations Act regarding disclosure of and voting on matters involving material personal interests, a Director may:

- (a) hold any office or place of profit in the Company, except that of auditor;
- (b) hold any office or place of profit in any other Company, body corporate, trust or entity promoted by the Company or in which it has an interest of any kind;
- (c) enter into any contract or arrangement with the Company;
- (d) participate in any association, institution, fund, trust or scheme for past or present employees of the Company or Directors or persons dependent on or connected with them:
- (e) act in a professional capacity (or be a member of a firm which acts in a professional capacity) for the Company, except as auditor;
- (f) participate in, vote on and be counted in a quorum for any meeting, resolution or decision of the Directors and may be present at any meeting where any matter is being considered by the Directors;
- (g) sign or participate in the execution of a document by or on behalf of the Company;
- (h) do any of the above despite the fiduciary relationship of the Director's office:
  - (i) without any liability to account to the Company for any Director or indirect benefit accruing to the Director; and
  - (ii) without affecting the validity of any contract or arrangement; and
- (i) exercise the voting power conferred by securities in any entity held by the Company, as they determine including in circumstances where a Director may be interested in the exercise, such as a resolution appointing a Director as an officer of the entity or providing for the payment of remuneration to the officers of the entity.

A reference to the Company in this article 16.8 is also a reference to each subsidiary of the Company.

### 16.9 Vacation of office

In addition to the circumstances in which the office of a Director becomes vacant under the Corporations Act, the office of a Director becomes vacant if the Director:

- (a) dies, or is removed;
- (b) becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health; or
- (c) resigns from the office by notice in writing to the Company.

# 17. Powers and duties of Directors

# 17.1 General powers

The business of the Company is to be managed by the Directors, who may exercise all such powers of the Company as are not, by the Corporations Act or this Constitution, required to be exercised by the Company in general meeting.

### 17.2 Nominee Directors

The Directors must act in good faith and in the best interests of the Company as a whole. Subject to this duty, a Director appointed to represent the interests of a Member may have regard to, and act in the interests of, their appointing Member.

### 17.3 Specific powers of Directors

Without limiting the generality of article 17.1, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow or raise money, to charge any property or business of the Company or all or any of its uncalled capital and to issue debentures or give any other security for a debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any other person.

### 17.4 Powers of appointment

The Directors may:

- (a) appoint or employ any person as an officer, agent or attorney of the Company for the purposes, with the powers, discretions and duties (including powers, discretions and duties vested in or exercisable by the Directors), for any period and on any other conditions they decide;
- (b) authorise an officer, agent or attorney to delegate any of the powers, discretions and duties vested in the officer, agent or attorney; and
- (c) remove or dismiss any officer, agent or attorney of the Company at any time, with or without cause.

### 17.5 Committees

The Directors may delegate any of their powers, other than powers required by law to be dealt with by Directors as a board, to a committee or committees consisting of one or more of their number as they think fit.

A committee to which any powers have been delegated must exercise those powers in accordance with any directions of the Directors.

### 17.6 Delegation

The Directors may delegate any of their powers to any persons they select for any period, to be exercised for any objects and purposes on any terms and subject to any conditions and restrictions as they think fit, and may revoke, withdraw, alter or vary the delegation of any of those powers.

The powers of delegation expressly or impliedly conferred by this Constitution on the Directors are conferred in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the power conferred by section 198D of the Corporations Act.

### 17.7 Business plan & budget

(a) The directors must develop and approve a business plan and budget for the Company for the forthcoming financial year, setting out the Company's goals, the reasons they are attainable and the plans for reaching them, no later than 30 days prior to the commencement of a new financial year.

- (b) The directors must review the business plan and budget at least once each financial year and may by Special Majority Board Resolution, update the business plan and budget in accordance with the Company's strategic plans and priorities.
- (c) During the financial year to which a business plan and budget applies, the Company must, insofar as is reasonably practicable, conduct its business in accordance with the business plan and budget.
- (d) Notwithstanding article 17.7(c), the Company will be under no obligation to enter into any arrangement or undertake any activity set out in the business plan and budget if the directors, at the time of consideration, deems such arrangement or activity not in the best or financial interests of the Company.
- (e) As soon as reasonably practicable following the approval of a new business plan and budget or amendments to an existing business plan and budget, the directors must circulate copies of the new or amended business plan and budget to Vedast, Constantoulas and Prospector.
- (f) The directors will, upon request by a Member holding no less than 10% of the total shares in the Company's capital (**Major Member**), provide the Major Member with a copy of the business plan and budget or an amendment, as the case may be, in accordance with such request.

# 18. Proceedings of Directors

# 18.1 Meetings

The Directors may meet for the dispatch of business and adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings as they think fit. A minimum of ten directors meetings must be held per calendar year.

### 18.2 Convening meetings

A Director may at any time, and the Secretary must on the written request of a Director, convene a meeting of the Directors.

### 18.3 Notice of meetings

Unless all the Directors agree otherwise:

- (a) Directors must receive at least 5 Business Days' written notice of a meeting (which includes an agenda); and
- (b) the Directors cannot pass a resolution or transact any business unless the resolution or the item of business was included in the notice of meeting and all relevant documents, unless all the Directors determine otherwise.

### 18.4 Technology

A Directors' meeting may be called or held using any technology consented to by all the Directors. The consent may be a standing one. A Director may only withdraw their consent within a reasonable period before the meeting.

### 18.5 Majority

Each of the matters listed in Schedule 1 that require approval by way of a Special Majority Board Resolution must be determined by a Special Majority Board Resolution.

All other resolutions of the Directors must be passed by ordinary resolution.

### 18.6 Alternate Director or proxy and voting

A person who is present at a meeting of Directors as an Alternate Director or as a proxy for another Director has one vote for each absent Director who would be entitled to vote if present at the meeting and for whom that person is an Alternate Director or proxy and, if that person is also a Director, has one vote as a Director in that capacity.

#### 18.7 Chair

The Directors may elect one of their number as chair of their meetings and may also determine the period for which the person elected as chair is to hold office.

If a Directors' meeting is held and:

- (a) a chair has not been elected; or
- (b) the elected chair is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unable or unwilling to act,

the Directors present must elect one of their number to be chair of the meeting.

### 18.8 Casting vote

The chair does not have a casting vote.

#### 18.9 Director attending and voting by proxy

A Director may participate in and vote by proxy at a meeting of the Directors if the proxy:

- (a) is another Director; and
- (b) has been appointed in writing signed by the appointor.

The appointment may be general or for one or more particular meetings. A Director present as a proxy for another Director, who would be entitled to vote if present at the meeting, has one vote for the appointor and one vote in his or her own capacity as a Director.

## 18.10 **Quorum**

At a meeting of Directors, the number of Directors whose presence in person or by proxy is necessary to constitute a quorum is two or more Directors, one of whom must be a Director appointed by Vedast, Constantoulas or Prospector.

#### 18.11 If quorum not present

If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of a meeting, then the meeting stands adjourned to the same day in the next week and the same time and place, or to such other day, time and place as the Directors appoint by notice to the Members and others entitled to notice of the meeting.

## 18.12 Validity of acts

All acts done at a meeting of the Directors, or by a person acting as a Director are, even if it is afterwards discovered that:

- (a) there was a defect in the appointment or continuance in office of a person as a Director or of the person so acting; or
- (b) a person acting as a Director was disqualified or was not entitled to vote,

as valid as if the relevant person had been duly appointed or had duly continued in office and was qualified and entitled to vote.

#### 18.13 Written resolutions

The Directors may pass a resolution without a meeting being held if all of the Directors entitled to vote on the relevant resolution sign a document containing a statement that they are in favour of the resolution set out in the document.

A resolution passed in accordance with this article 18.13 will be as valid and effective as a resolution duly passed at a meeting of the Directors.

## 19. Alternate Directors

## 19.1 Appointment of Alternate Director

Subject to the Corporations Act and the prior approval of the board of Directors, a Director may appoint a person to be an Alternate Director in the Director's place during such period as the Director thinks fit.

An appointment, or the termination of an appointment, of an Alternate Director must be effected by a notice in writing signed by the Director who makes or made the appointment and delivered to the Company.

#### An Alternate Director:

- (a) is entitled to notice of all meetings of the Directors and, if the appointor does not participate in a meeting, the Alternate Director is entitled to participate and vote in the appointor's place;
- (b) may exercise all the powers of the appointor except the power to appoint an Alternate Director and, subject to the Corporations Act, may perform all the duties of the appointor except to the extent that the appointor has exercised or performed them;
- is not entitled to receive from the Company any remuneration or benefit under article 16.5 or article 16.7; and
- (d) is not to be taken into account separately from the appointor in determining the number of Directors.

#### 19.2 Alternate Director responsible for own acts

While acting as a Director, an Alternate Director:

- (a) is an officer of the Company and not the agent of the appointor; and
- (b) is responsible to the exclusion of the appointor for the Alternate Director's own acts and omissions.

## 19.3 Termination of appointment of Alternate Director

The appointment of an Alternate Director may be terminated at any time by the appointor even if the period of the appointment of the Alternate Director has not expired, and terminates in any event if the appointor ceases to be a Director for any reason.

## 20. Executive officers

## 20.1 Managing Directors and executive officers

(a) The Directors may appoint an employee to the office of managing Director or executive Director.

(b) The Directors may, subject to the terms of any employment contract between the relevant Director and the Company or a subsidiary, at any time remove or dismiss the managing Director or an executive Director from employment with the Company or a subsidiary, in which case the appointment of that person as a Director automatically ceases.

#### 20.2 Secretary

The Company may, but need not, have one or more Secretaries who are to be appointed by the Directors.

The Directors may suspend or remove a Secretary from that office.

### 20.3 Provisions applicable to all executive officers

A reference in this article 20.3 to an executive officer is a reference to a managing Director, executive Director or Secretary.

- (a) The appointment of an executive officer may be for a period, at the remuneration and on the conditions the Directors decide.
- (b) The Directors may:
  - (i) delegate to an executive officer any powers, discretions and duties they decide;
  - (ii) withdraw, suspend or vary any of the powers, discretions and duties given to an executive officer; and
  - (iii) authorise the executive officer to delegate any of the powers, discretions and duties given to the executive officer.
- (c) An act done by a person acting as an executive officer is not invalidated by:
  - (i) a defect in the person's appointment;
  - (ii) the person being disqualified from being an executive officer; or
  - (iii) the person having vacated office,

if the person did not know that circumstance when the act was done.

## 21. Related party transactions

#### 21.1 Related party transactions

Unless the Members agree otherwise by Special Majority Member Resolution, any agreement between the Company (or a subsidiary) and a Member (or a Related Party of a Member) (the **Conflicted Member**), and any decision to terminate, vary, assign, enforce, waive any right under or not comply with any such agreement must:

- (a) be on arm's length terms;
- (b) be approved by the Directors; and
- subject to article 21.2, not be voted on by any Director appointed to represent the interests of the Conflicted Member, in which case:
  - (i) the Director(s) appointed to represent the interests of the Conflicted Member will not be entitled to receive any information or advice provided to the Directors in respect of the relevant matter, other than factual background information;

- (ii) the quorum for the meeting of Directors (while considering the matter) will be constituted by the presence of all Directors who were not appointed to represent the interests of the Conflicted Member;
- (iii) the Director(s) appointed to represent the interests of the Conflicted Member may not be present while the matter is being considered;
- (iv) any resolution dealing with the matter may be passed by the Directors not appointed to represent the interests of the Conflicted Member; and
- (v) in exercising any powers in respect of a conflicted matter, each Director not appointed to represent the interests of the Conflicted Member must act in good faith and in the best interests of the Company.

## 21.2 Where all Directors are disqualified from voting

If all the Directors would, but for this article, be disqualified from voting under article 21.1(c) on a particular matter, then all of the Directors may vote on the relevant matter.

## 22. Seals

## 22.1 Safe custody of common seal

The Directors must provide for the safe custody of any seal of the Company.

#### 22.2 Use of common seal

If the Company has a common seal or duplicate common seal:

- (a) it may be used only by the authority of the Directors, or of a committee authorised by the Directors to authorise its use; and
- (b) every document to which it is affixed must be signed by a Director and be countersigned by another Director, a Secretary or another person appointed by the Directors to countersign that document or a class of documents in which that document is included.

## 23. Inspection of records

#### 23.1 Inspection by Members

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Directors may determine whether, to what extent, at what time and places and under what conditions the accounting records and other documents of the Company or any of them will be open to the inspection of Members (other than Directors).

#### 23.2 Right of a Member to inspect

A Member (other than a Director) does not have the right to inspect any document of the Company except as provided by law or as authorised by the Directors.

#### 23.3 Audits

If requested by Members with a Respective Proportion of at least 50%, the auditor of the Company will audit the financial statements of the Company for the relevant calendar year upon receipt of a written request. The costs of any audit will be borne by the Company. As a separate matter, and at the request of Members with a Respective Proportion of at least 50%, the Company will make available to the Members and the auditor any and all information reasonably required to enable the

auditor to audit the audited financial statements of the Company for any calendar year after execution of this agreement.

## 24. Dividends

## 24.1 Payment of dividend

Subject to the Corporations Act, this Constitution, and the terms of issue or rights of any shares with special rights to dividends, the Directors may:

- (a) declare, determine or pay any interim or final dividend; and
- (b) rescind a decision to pay a dividend.

Interest is not payable by the Company on a dividend.

### 24.2 Reserves and profits carried forward

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Directors may:

- (a) set aside out of the Company's profits any reserves or provisions they decide;
- (b) appropriate to the Company's profits any amount previously set aside as a reserve or provision; or
- (c) carry forward any profits remaining that they consider should not be distributed as dividends or capitalised, without transferring those profits to a reserve or provision.

Setting aside an amount as a reserve or provision does not require the Directors to keep the amount separate from the Company's other assets or prevent the amount being used in the Company's business or being invested as the Directors decide.

#### 24.3 Apportionment of dividends

Subject to the terms of issue of any shares or class of shares, dividends must be paid equally on all shares, except partly paid shares, which have an entitlement only to that part of the dividend which is in proportion to the amount paid (not credited) on the share to the total amounts paid and payable (excluding amounts credited). An amount paid in advance of a call is taken as not having been paid until it becomes payable.

#### 24.4 Deductions from dividends

The Directors may deduct from any dividend payable to, or at the direction of, a Member any sums presently payable by that Member to the Company on account of calls or otherwise in relation to shares in the Company.

#### 24.5 Distribution of specific assets

- (a) The Directors may distribute specific assets, including fully paid-up shares (but not partly paid-up shares) or other fully paid-up securities (but not partly paid-up securities) of the Company or of another body corporate, either generally or specifically to members as direct payment of the dividend in whole or in part and, if they do so they may:
  - (i) fix the value of any asset distributed;
  - (ii) make cash payments to members on the basis of the value fixed or for any other reason so as to adjust the rights of members between themselves; and
  - (iii) vest an asset in trustees.

- (b) Where the Company satisfies a dividend by way of distribution of fully paid up securities of another body corporate, each member is taken to have agreed to become a member of that corporation and to have agreed to be bound by the constitution of that corporation. Each member also appoints each Director their agent and attorney to:
  - (i) agree to the member becoming a member of that corporation;
  - (ii) agree to the member being bound by the constitution of that corporation;
  - (iii) sign any transfer of shares or securities, or other document required to give effect to the distribution of shares or other securities to that member

#### 24.6 Source of dividends

The Directors may pay a dividend to particular members wholly or partly out of any particular fund or reserve or out of profits derived from any particular source, and to the other members wholly or partly out of any other particular fund or reserve or out of profits derived from any other particular source.

## 24.7 Method of payment

A dividend, interest or other money payable in cash in respect of shares may be paid using any payment method chosen by the Company, including:

- (a) by cheque sent through the post directed to the address in the Register of the holder or, in the case of joint holders, to the address of the joint holder first named in the Register;
- (b) by cheque sent through the post directed to such other address as the holder or joint holder in writing directs; or
- (c) by some other method of direct credit determined by the Directors to the holder or holders shown on the Register or to such person or place directed by them.

Different methods of payment may apply to different Members or groups of Members.

#### 24.8 Unclaimed dividends

Unclaimed dividends may be invested by the Directors as they think fit for the benefit of the Company until claimed or until required to be dealt with in accordance with any law relating to unclaimed moneys.

#### 24.9 Reinvestment

The Directors may permit the Members (or any class of Members) to:

- (a) reinvest cash dividends by subscribing for shares or other securities in the Company; or
- (b) forgo the right to receive cash dividends and receive instead some other form of distribution of entitlement (including securities),

on any terms the Directors think fit.

## 25. Capitalisation of profits

## 25.1 Capitalisation of reserves and profits

The Directors:

- (a) may resolve to capitalise any sum, being the whole or a part of the amount for the time being standing to the credit of any reserve account or the profit and loss account or otherwise available for distribution to Members; and
- (b) may, but need not, resolve to apply the sum in any of the ways mentioned in article 25.2, for the benefit of Members in the proportions to which those Members would have been entitled in a distribution of that sum by way of dividend.

## 25.2 Applying a sum for the benefit of Members

The ways in which a sum may be applied for the benefit of Members under article 25.1 are:

- (a) in paying up any amounts unpaid on shares held by Members;
- (b) in paying up in full unissued shares or debentures to be issued to Members as fully paid; or
- (c) partly as mentioned in paragraph (a) and partly as mentioned in paragraph (b).

## 25.3 Implementing the resolution

The Directors may do all things necessary to give effect to a resolution under article 25.1.

## 26. Intellectual Property & Confidentiality

- (a) All Intellectual Property Rights owned by the Company are the property of the of the Company and must not be used by any Member without the prior written consent of the Company.
- (b) The Company will own and the Member hereby assigns to the Company on creation, all existing and future rights in and to any Intellectual Property Rights in any material created for, on behalf of or regarding the Company whilst that Member is a Member of the Company.
- (c) Each Member must keep secret and confidential and not disclose at any time (other than with the Company's consent) any information concerning the Company which would reasonably be expected to be kept confidential, including without limitation information concerning the Company's financial position and operating activities. These obligations continue after the Member ceases to be a Member.

## 27. Restraint

- (a) Each Restrained Member understands and agrees that it must not, and must ensure that its Related Parties do not, without the express prior written consent of the Directors, either directly or indirectly engage in the Restrained Activities within the Restraint Area during the Restraint Period.
- (b) Each Restrained Member understands and agrees that:
  - the provisions contained in this article 27 are reasonable and necessary to protect the Company's legitimate business interests and goodwill;
  - (ii) monetary damages may not be a sufficient remedy for a breach of this article 27: and

(iii) the Company or a Member may be entitled to seek injunctive relief or orders to compel specific performance in the event of a breach or anticipated breach of this article.

## 28. Service of documents

#### 28.1 Document includes notice

In this article 28, a reference to a document includes a notice and a notification by electronic means.

#### 28.2 Methods of service

The Company may give a document to a Member:

- (a) personally;
- (b) by delivering it or sending it by post to the address for the Member in the Register or an alternative address nominated by the Member;
- (c) by sending it to an electronic address nominated by the Member; or
- (d) by notifying the member by an electronic means nominated by the Member that:
  - (i) the document is available; and
  - (ii) how the Member may use the nominated access means to access the document.

#### 28.3 Post

A document sent by post:

- (a) if sent to an address in Australia, may be sent by ordinary post; and
- (b) if sent to an address outside Australia, must be sent by airmail;

and, in either case, is taken to have been given and received on the day after the day of its posting.

#### 28.4 Electronic address

A document sent to an electronic address:

- (a) is taken to be effected by properly addressing and transmitting the electronic communication; and
- (b) is taken to have been given and received on the day after the date of its transmission.

#### 28.5 Electronic means

A document made available by electronic means is taken to have been given and received on the day after the date of transmission of the notification specifying that the document is available and how it can be accessed.

#### 28.6 Evidence of service

A certificate in writing signed by a Director or a Secretary stating that a document was sent, delivered or given to a Member personally, by post or other electronic means on a particular date is prima facie evidence that the document was sent, delivered or given on that date and by that means.

#### 28.7 Joint holders

A document may be given by the Company to the joint holders of a share by giving it to the joint holder first named in the Register in respect of the share.

#### 28.8 Persons entitled to shares

A person who by operation of law, transfer or other means whatsoever becomes entitled to any share is absolutely bound by every document given in accordance with this article 28 to the person from whom that person derives title prior to registration of that person's title in the Register.

## 29. Winding up

#### 29.1 Distribution of assets

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator may, with the sanction of a special resolution of the Company, divide among the Members in kind the whole or any part of the property of the Company and may for that purpose set such value as the liquidator considers fair on any property to be so divided and may determine how the division is to be carried out as between the Members or different classes of Members.

#### 29.2 Powers of liquidator to vest property

The liquidator may, with the sanction of a special resolution of the Company, vest the whole or any part of any such property in trustees on such trusts for the benefit of the contributories as the liquidator thinks fit, but so that no Member is compelled to accept any shares or other securities in respect of which there is any liability.

### 29.3 Shares issued on special terms

Articles 29.1 and 29.2 do not prejudice or affect the rights of a Member holding shares issued on special terms and conditions.

## 30. Indemnity and insurance

#### 30.1 Indemnity

The Company may indemnify any current or former Director or Secretary, or senior manager, of the Company or of a subsidiary of the Company out of the property of the Company against:

- (a) any liability incurred by the person in that capacity (except a liability for legal costs);
- (b) legal costs incurred in defending or resisting (or otherwise in connection with) proceedings, whether civil or criminal or of an administrative or investigatory nature, in which the person becomes involved because of that capacity; and
- (c) legal costs incurred in good faith in obtaining legal advice on issues relevant to the performance of their functions and discharge of their duties as an officer of the Company or a subsidiary, if that expenditure has been approved in accordance with the Company's policy,

#### except to the extent that:

- (d) the Company is forbidden by law to indemnify the person against the liability or legal costs; or
- (e) an indemnity by the Company of the person against the liability or legal costs, if given, would be made void by law.

#### 30.2 Insurance

The Company may pay or agree to pay, whether directly or through an interposed entity, a premium for a contract insuring a person who is or has been a Director or Secretary or senior manager of the Company or of a subsidiary of the Company against liability incurred by the person in that capacity, including a liability for legal costs, unless:

- (a) the Company is forbidden by law to pay or agree to pay the premium; or
- (b) the contract would, if the Company paid the premium, be made void by law.

#### 30.3 Contract

The Company may enter into an agreement with a person referred to in articles 30.1 and 30.2 with respect to the matters covered by those articles. An agreement entered into pursuant to this article may include provisions relating to rights of access to the books of the Company conferred by the Corporations Act or otherwise by law.

## 31. Interest and costs payable

- (a) If an amount called or otherwise payable to the Company for a share is not paid on or before the time for payment, the person who owes that money must pay:
  - (i) interest on the unpaid amount:
    - (A) at a rate fixed by the Directors; or
    - (B) if no rate is fixed, at a rate per annum which is 2% higher than the rate prescribed for unpaid judgments in the Supreme Court of the state or territory in which the Company is registered; and
  - (ii) all costs the Company incurs due to the failure to pay or the late payment.
- (b) Interest accrues daily and costs may be capitalised monthly or at any other intervals the Directors decide.
- (c) The Directors may waive payment of interest or costs wholly or in part.

## 32. Attorney and Exit

## 32.1 Appointment of attorney

Each Member (the **Appointor**) irrevocably appoints the Company (and each Director of the Company from time to time) to be its attorney for the purposes of completing, executing and delivering (in the name of the Member and on its behalf), all documents required to be executed, completed and delivered by the Member under this Agreement and which the Member fails to execute, complete and deliver.

#### The Appointor:

- (a) agrees to ratify and confirm anything the attorney lawfully does, or causes to be done, under the appointment;
- (b) agrees to indemnify the attorney against all claims, demands, costs, charges, expenses, outgoings, losses and liabilities arising in any way in connection with the lawful exercise of all or any of the attorney's powers and authorities under the appointment; and

(c) agrees to deliver to the Company on demand any power of attorney, instrument of transfer or other instrument as the Company may require for the purpose of the lawful exercise of all or any of the attorney's powers and authorities under the appointment.

### 32.2 Compliance with law

Article 32.1 applies if, and only for so long as, item 19A of section 611 of the Corporations Act applies in respect of the Company.

#### 32.3 Assistance for an Exit

If the Directors resolve to approve an Exit, each member must use reasonable endeavours to facilitate, and must do all acts, matters and things within its power to ensure that the Exit occurs in accordance with the approved proposal, including:

- (a) approving and facilitating the re-organisation or re-construction of the Company or its subsidiaries (or the imposition of an IPO Vehicle);
- (b) passing any resolutions required to achieve the Exit;
- (c) giving any information requested as part of the Exit; and
- (d) accepting any lock-up or escrow arrangements in respect of the shares or other securities (or any shares or other securities in any IPO Vehicle) held by it.

# **Schedule 1 Restricted Decisions**

Action/Decision	Approval required	
	Special Majority Board Resolution	Special Majority Member Resolution
A fundamental shift in the scale or character of the business undertaken by the Business	x	
The approval of a Business Plan for the Company	X	
The approval of a Budget for the Company	X	
Commencing new business ventures including formation of subsidiaries	x	
Appointing or removing the Chairperson	X	
Changing the name of the Company or amending the Company's Constitution subject to the Corporations Act		X
Listing the company on any stock exchange		X
Acquiring or disposing of shares in any other company		X
Merger of all or a substantial part of the business with another company		X
Placing the Company or a subsidiary into voluntary or involuntary liquidation, administration or taking any other steps to wind up the company		x
Approving any scheme of arrangement		X
Recommendation or declaration of dividends other than in accordance with the Company's dividend policy		x
Distribution of any reserves of the Company to its Members other than as dividends		X
Issuing or allotting shares or units		X
Buying back shares		X
Establishing any share, option or other like plan which affects the capital structure of the Company	X	
Varying rights attaching to shares and agreeing to a conversion of preference shares to ordinary shares		X
Reorganising or reconstructing the Company's share capital		X
Redeeming any shares in the Company		X

Action/Decision	Approval required	
	Special Majority Board Resolution	Special Majority Member Resolution
Accepting or repaying loans made by Members of the Company	x	
Sale of the whole of a substantial part of the undertakings of the Company		X
Incurring a debt or liability (including by way of guarantee) of \$100,000 or more not accounted for in the Company's current budget	x	
Giving a charge or security interest over the whole or a substantial part of the undertakings of the Company	x	
Acquisition of any asset, business or undertaking and the acquisition, whether by purchase, hire or lease of any item which is, in either case, of \$50,000 or more and not accounted for in the Company's current budget	x	
Acquisition or disposal of real estate or any interest in land (including any lease) not accounted for in the Company's current budget	x	
Entering into any agreement or arrangement with a Member or third party that is not on arms' length terms (or more favourable to the Company than arms' length)		X
Entering into or varying financing facilities with third party lenders	x	
Entering arrangements for construction or major repair works not accounted for in the Company's current budget	x	
Creating encumbrances over property of the Company	x	
Appointment of committees of the Company's board	x	
Delegation of the powers of the Company's board	x	
Change in the number of Directors	X	
Appointment or removal of the auditor of the Company	х	
Implementation / variation of incentive or remuneration schemes	x	
Remuneration of Directors, and other executives	X	
Salary increases of \$10,000 or more	x	

Action/Decision	Approval required	
	Special Majority Board Resolution	Special Majority Member Resolution
Recruitment, payment and dismissal of Directors and other executives	x	
Entering or varying arrangements which involve a commitment by the Company over the term of the arrangement in excess of \$100,000 that is not provided for in the Company's current budget	x	
Entering arrangements involving the Company's intellectual property		X
Initiate, threaten or settle any material litigation	x	